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Key Issues

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER CHARGES SHOULD BE OVERTURNED

Shawn was sentenced for conspiracy to commit murder. He was given the same sentence for actual murder (25 years to life), although there was no murder 
committed whatsoever.  

He was found guilty of a crime he himself did not meet the criteria for because jurors were told they must find him guilty based on the Natural & Probable 
Consequences Doctrine, which is now illegal.

He was given responsibility for someone else’s intent he didn’t have and actively undermined, and was given culpability for someone else’s actions he 
sabotaged. 

KIDNAPPING CHARGES SHOULD BE OVERTURNED

Shawn was sentenced for kidnapping/entrapment (7 years to life). He was not involved or present when the entrapment occurred and had no foreknowledge it 
would take place.

Jurors were told they  must find Shawn guilty for Anna Rugg’s crimes based on the Natural & Probable Consequences Doctrine, which is now illegal.

SHAWN IS ELIGIBLE FOR RESENTENCING UNDER CURRENT LAWS

Under current laws, Shawn would have been free over a decade ago. 

Shawn should be resentenced and released. 



The 
Essentials 
of the 
Shawn 
Rodriguez 
Case

Anna Rugg manipulated Shawn to accompany her to rob her boyfriend. Nick Hamman, who was Anna’s 
boyfriend at the time. 

No one was physically harmed.  No one was kidnapped.  No one was murdered.  

Nick later repeatedly confessed to perjury during the trial. 

Juror Louise Daggett was contacted in 2022, and affirmed had she known Hamman lied at trial, she would 
have changed her votes.

It should be noted Anna had a history of framing the people around her (always males) for her crimes.

There was a church robbery prior to this case, and Anna told Police it was done by Shawn, despite multiple 
eyewitnesses confirming Shawn was not there. Shawn was not charged with the church robbery.  This 
information was not allowed in at trial.  

The laws which allowed Shawn to be found guilty of Kidnapping and Conspiracy to Commit Murder –
namely, the “Natural and Probable Consequences Doctrine” are no longer valid due to law changes in 
recent years.  California has passed a series of laws allowing/requiring Judges and District Attorneys to 
resentence those who were made culpable for others’ crimes under the Natural & Probable Consequences 
Doctrine. 



Who Is Shawn Rodriguez?

Until the age of 10, Shawn was raised by a single, poverty-stricken, neglectful, 

abusive, drug-addicted mother.  Shawn’s father was uninvolved. 

At age 10, Shawn was removed from his home, by the State of California, and 

placed into foster care.  Shawn continued to live in an abusive situation. 

At age 18, Shawn was released by the California Youth Authority, with nowhere to 

live, no means of support, no training or qualifications for jobs and no money.  

At age 19, Shawn met another homeless teen, Anna Rugg.  Anna let Shawn know 

about a church where they could stay.  

With threats of violence, extreme intimidation and armed with a deadly weapon, 

Anna coerced Shawn into her crimes. 



Help Free Shawn:
A Team Led by Dr. Angela 
Meyers Cotellessa

Intern for California Governor Gray Davis 
(1999)

White House Intern (2005)

Spent nearly 15 years working in 
government (2007 – 2021), including at the 
Executive Office of the President, under 
Presidents Bush and Obama.  

Doctorate in Human & Organizational 
Learning from George Washington 
University; Scholar, Academic. Researcher. 
Speaker, Author

After graduating with her doctorate, Dr. 
Cotellessa extended her research in a 
prison setting.  That is how she met Shawn 
Rodriguez. 

Dr. Cotellessa is working with a team of 
concerned citizens, known as the Help Free 
Shawn Rodriguez Campaign.



The Crime: When, Where and Who

TIME AND PLACE: March 2003, Auburn, California.  Forty-hour experience.

MAIN CHARACTERS: 

▪ 19-year-old Anna Rugg

▪ 39-year-old Nick Hamman, Anna’s boyfriend at the time. 

▪ 19-year-old Shawn Rodriguez

▪ 30-year-old Erin Hughes, Shawn’s girlfriend at the time



Nicholas Hamman: “Anna 
was the Mastermind.”
▪ Nick's Statement: “Anna Rugg was the Mastermind, not Shawn” (made to attorney 
Marc Norton on July 31, 2022 from Sacramento County Jail). 

▪When Anna told Shawn she wanted to rob Nick and she wanted Shawn to be 
"around" to help protect her, Shawn agreed to be there and participated in robbing 
Nick.  

▪Shawn was not aware and did not agree or participate in any kidnapping or any 
attempted murder/conspiracy to commit murder. 

▪Anna had a well documented history of trying to get young MALES to be around 
while she committed a crime.  If police showed up and caught her, she could blame 
the male and claim innocence. 

▪Many young men came forward with reports that Anna had tried to frame them for 
her crimes. This evidence was not allowed in trial.

▪ Hamman had no physical injuries.

▪ Hamman has repeatedly confessed to the crime of perjury he committed during 
Shawn Rodriguez’ trial.



Anna Entrapped Nick By Herself

• Anna and Nick went to an abandoned juvenile hall in Auburn, CA. Shawn and his girlfriend, 
Erin, arrived. 

• Shawn believed they had gone there to leave their bags somewhere for the day, since they 
were homeless.  

• Erin and Shawn were walking around the building. Meanwhile, Anna tricked Nick into entering 
a room and trapped Nick.  

• Anna trapped Nick in a room, from which he could not escape.  Anna alone 
entrapped/kidnapped Nick Hamman.  

• Shawn received a 7 year to life sentence for kidnapping, despite no advanced knowledge or 
agreement and despite not being physically present when it was done.  

• Lastly, Shawn repeatedly tried to help Nick get out of the room. 



Nick Set Off Water on Himself
•Nick Hamman was stuck in a room, entrapped by Anna. Anna, Shawn, and 

Erin left the building. Nick decided to set off a water sprinkler in the 

room. 

• The water escaped through the gap at the bottom of the door. The room 

was not watertight. We now know, at its highest, the water went up to 

approximately Nick’s knees.  There was a table in the room – the same table 

Nick used to stand on to set off the sprinklers – which he could sit or stand 

on to escape the water. 

• At trial, Nick lied and said the water got up to his neck, implying he 

was close to complete drowning. Nick later confessed to lying at least four 

separate times in writing to Placer County, CA authorities. Shawn continues 

to languish in prison due to Hamman's lies. 

• It has been 8 years since Nick wrote his recantation letters to Placer County 

authorities. 



Once Nick was trapped in the room, Anna tried to 
convince Shawn that they should push Nick off the 
Forresthill Bridge. Terrified, Shawn refused. 

Anna then tried to convince Shawn they should 
beat Nick to death with a pole wrapped in barbed 
wire. Shawn refused.

Shawn obtained a tool to try to turn off the water in 
the building where Nick had set off the fire 
sprinklers on himself.

Shawn also tried to break the plexiglass in the 
room where Nick was. Nick affirmed this at trial.

Shawn also tried to remove the plexiglass by trying 
to unscrew it.  The Crime Scene photos showed 
screws were missing.

Shawn’s 
Repeated Actions 
to Protect Nick 
Hamman



Nick Hamman’s 
Confession of 
Perjury During 
the Trial
“Let me come right to the point. I perjured 
myself in a  trial against two different 
defendants, back in 2003; but I’m a Christian 
now in your county…I lied about how deep the 
water in the cell got. It didn’t get up to my 
neck it only got up to my lower part of my 
thighs.”

“Maybe you didn’t understand but I perjured 
myself in the Anna Rugg and Shawn Rodriguez 
cases.”

“If you want to know what exactly I perjured 
myself about I suggest you have your lawyer 
come see me.  I saw the Placer County DA’s 
investigator on Friday 4-24-2015 and I told 
him what I lied about and he said nothing 
would come of it cause their appeals are all 
over. I’m not saying anymore in a letter. So I 
suggest you have your lawyer come see me…”



Nick Hamman’s Known Lies 

Another one of Nick’s very significant lies is Nick testified that Shawn kicked him into 

the cell. However, Erin Hughes’ recorded interview with Detective Daniel Coe is 

available in Placer County records and will affirm that Shawn was with Erin in 

another part of the building when Anna trapped Nick in the room by herself.  Anna’s 

interview also corroborates this account. Shawn also states he was not there when 

Anna entrapped Nick. Many jurors state in their post-trial statements they did not 

believe Shawn was a part of any plans to entrap Nick and they did not believe Shawn 

was physically present during the actual entrapment of Nick. 

Shawn was there for a robbery; but somehow Shawn received multiple life sentences 

for a kidnapping he did not know would occur and was not present for, and a 

conspiracy to commit murder he had no intent to do. Intent is required to find 

someone guilty of the crime of conspiracy to commit murder.

Falsus in uno, falsus in omnibus is a Latin maxim meaning "false in one thing, false 

in everything".  It is the legal principle that a witness who testifies falsely about one 

matter is not credible to testify about any matter.



Anna Rugg’s Modus Operandi: Lure 
Boys/Men to Her Crime Scene and If 
Caught, Frame Them for What She Did

Shawn told Anna he was not going to participate in any murder.  Shortly thereafter, Anna wrote a note 
claiming Shawn had kidnapped her and Anna left this note in a gas station. Placer County knew Anna was 
lying and they never charged Shawn with kidnapping Anna.  Anna was trying to frame Shawn for her 
crimes. Clearly, Anna is willing to state that other people are responsible for crimes that she committed.  
This is her modus operandi.

Anna was armed with a deadly weapon—a very large knife.

Anna began discussing plans to kill Shawn in addition to killing Nick.  Anna made these statements in front 
of Erin, who was an eyewitness to many of the crimes that occurred. Erin was “scared into silence.”

Anna threatened to kill Erin if she told anyone what she did to Nick.  Anna had given another teenager 
Draino and told him it was a safe drug he could ingest. Anna was ready to kill.

The next series of slides are examples of men Anna victimized. 



Anna Framed Shawn for 

Her Church Robbery

Shawn: “She said, you know, you can stay at the 

church with me. The next morning she told me 

about how she had robbed the church with two 

other kids and took some stuff, and she said she 

wanted me to say I was there and she said she 

didn’t break in to rob the church. It was the other 

two kids…I didn’t wanted her to throw it on me, 

among other things…put it all off on me. Tell the 

police that I did it.

Jesse Serafin: Okay. So you’re following the plan in 

hopes that she’ll think you’re on board?”

Shawn: Yes…I didn’t want to go against Anna.”

Reporter’s Transcripts, pages 591 - 592



More 
Examples of 
Anna’s Victims

Clerk’s transcript page 174, lines 

9 – 16

Clerk’s Transcripts page 175

Clerks Transcript, page 176, lines 

2 – 10

Clerk’s Transcripts, page 176, 

lines 11 – 24 and page 177, lines 

1 - 2



Shawn Did Not 
Participate in 
Any of Anna’s 
Plans to Murder 
Nick

Shawn: “She [Anna] said 

something about throwing him 

[Nick] off the Forresthill Bridge 

and climbing down, get his stuff 

from himself, get his keys and 

stabbing him and shooting him 

and all kinds of stuff.”



Exonerating 
Evidence: Shawn 
Tried To Turn off 
the Water that 
Nick Set Off on 
Himself

Q: “You were asked some questions about 

whether that should be put in your report 

because it might be exonerating evidence; 

correct?

A. Correct

Q: Did you put that in your report?

Just about the hacksaw, wanting to turn 

off the water that way.

Reporters transcript page 496 lines 15 –

18, and 27 – 28; page 497, line 1



Shawn Told Anna He 
Would Not Help Her 
Beat or Murder Nick
“She said something about beating him with barb wire poles, 

and I said ‘No, we’re going to get the water off now. Go over 

there and tell me if the water turns off.’ I started flipping 

switches again. It didn’t happen, and I went and pulled the 

hoses back out all the way of the window and put them in the 

trunk. And I said, ‘Come on. We’re going to get the hacksaw so 

we can get the water off.’ I figured it was the top valves and she 

said, ‘Let’s go get the barb wire poles and beat him to death.”

Jesse Serafin: At that point are there barb wire poles around?

Shawn: Yeah, out back.

Jesse: You didn’t agree with that plan?

Shawn: No.

Jesse: Did she then agree willingly to go with you to 

Sacramento?

Shawn: No. She kept telling me she wanted to get the barb wire 

poles and beat that dude to death.  I told her, ‘If you want to…”



Exonerating 
Evidence: Shawn 
Tried to Break the 
Glass to Release 
Nick In the Room 
Anna Trapped 
Nick In

Nick (about Shawn): “He 

attempted to break the 

window.”

Reporter’s Transcript, 

page 260, lines 19 - 20



Shawn Tried to 
Turn Off the 
Water and Get 
Nick Out

Shawn during the 2003 trial:

“My first thought was to get the water off 

and get him out.”

“That day we went up there, and I tried 

turn the water off…there were some 

valves outside the juvenile hall against the 

street, Epperle, behind Gottschalks…I’d 

done plumbing.”



Shawn Rodriguez Summary
❖ As a homeless, orphaned teenager, Shawn agreed to participate in a robbery—to survive.

❖ Shawn had been raised by the State. He was not prepared to be financially independent, to have a 
home, a job, or anything else which would have helped prevent his participation in a robbery. At 
18, he was released by the State directly into homelessness.  (Now the State does not do this 
anymore.  Now the state offers continued support to wards of the state who age out of the foster 
care system.)

❖ Shawn never agreed to participate in any kidnapping or any murder-related crime and actively 
worked against Anna on these matters.

❖ Shawn did his best to help Nick. Anna was armed with a deadly weapon and had framed Shawn 
for her crimes in the past already.  Shawn was terrified to upset Anna. 

❖ Shawn was sent to prison for 25 years to life for intent to kill that he did not have. 

❖ No one was murdered or physically injured.  

❖ Nick repeatedly confessed to lying at trial.

❖ Shawn was given more than triple the prison sentence as Anna Rugg (the main perpetrator of the 
crime) received.  

❖ Shawn was convicted as Anna’s “aider and abettor” yet received a far harsher punishment.

❖ Anna has been eligible for parole since 2011. Shawn is not eligible to see the parole board until 
2025.  The indeterminate life sentences requiring Shawn to obtain parole board approval to leave 
prison are based entirely on the intentions and actions of Anna; otherwise, he would have received 
a determinate sentence.

❖ Shawn has earned countless certificates, participated in many different prison programs, and 
engaged in many rehabilitative efforts while incarcerated the last 20+ years

❖ Proudly drug and gang free for his entire prison term

❖ Has read more than 1,000 books while in prison. 

❖ Certified as an electronic systems technician and ready to work. 



The 
Timeline 
Summary 

Shawn is born1983

Shawn becomes a ward of the state/an orphan1991

Shawn was released by the State into homelessness.  The crime occurred. Shawn thought it 
was only a robbery.  Anna turned it into a kidnapping and attempted murder.  Shawn 
repeatedly sabotaged Anna’s efforts.  Shawn receives 25 years to life sentence despite his 
repeated efforts to help Nick Hamman, who lied at trial.

2003

Nicholas Hamman writes a series of letters confessing to perjury during the 2003 trial.2015

Shawn’s legal efforts to obtain a retrial or a resentencing are denied by Placer County despite 
Nick’s recantations.  The perjured testimony stands, and Shawn’s sentence remains the 
same. 

2016

Shawn submitted a writ of habeus corpus to get a retrial or a resentencing given the “natural 
and probable consequences” doctrine which sent Shawn to prison have been made unlawful 
with the passage of Senate Bills 1437 and 775, and People v. Chiu. The petition was denied. 

2022

AB 600 is passed, further encouraging County officials to resentence those who may have 
been over sentenced based on the intentions and actions of others. Hundreds of citizens 
show their support to Free Shawn by signing the change.org petition and following social 
media for the Help Free Shawn Rodriguez Campaign.

2023



What is a “youth 
offender” in California?

There is scientific evidence showing that parts of the brain involved in behavior 
control continue to mature through late adolescence, and that human brains only 
become fully mature when a person is in his or her mid-to-late 20s. Specifically, 
the area of the brain responsible for impulse control, understanding 
consequences, and other executive functions is not fully developed until that 
time.

In reviewing this scientific evidence, both the U.S. Supreme Court and the 
California Supreme Court have recognized that the younger a person is, the more 
susceptible he or she is to negative influences and outside pressures, including 
peer pressure. But as that person ages, maturity can lead to reflection that is the 
foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. Therefore, the California 
Legislature has determined that, with few exceptions, offenders who commit 
crimes while under the age of 26 and who are sentenced to state prison are 
required to have a meaningful opportunity for parole during their natural life.

Shawn was 19 at the time of the crime. He is now 40 years old.



From Gold 
Country Media 
Article
October 1, 2003

“Shawn Rodriguez may have falsely 

imprisoned and extorted money from a man 

at the closed juvenile hall in Auburn, but the 

20-year-old is not guilty of kidnapping and 

attempted murder, his attorney argued 

Tuesday while the prosecution said 

Rodriguez left a man to die at the facility and 

should be convicted of the crimes. 

Defense attorney Jesse Serafin said during 

closing arguments in the trial at the Historic 

Courthouse in Auburn that Rodriguez was a 

young man looking for a place his pregnant 

girlfriend could stay and got caught up in a  

crime not of his own making.”



Erin 
Hughes: 

Intimidated 
Out of 

Speaking 
Openly at 

Trial

Witness to much of what occurred with Shawn, Anna, and Nick.

Scared out of testifying, Erin was told if she said too much, she 

would also be charged with all the same charges as Shawn was 

being charged.

As a result, Erin pled the fifth repeatedly during trial, and the truth 

of what had occurred remained hidden from jurors.



Eyewitness Erin 
Hughes Afraid What 
Will Happen To Her 
if She Tells the Truth 
in Court
Erin: “I refuse to answer that.”

William Marchi: “You’re asserting the Fifth 

Amendment?”

Erin: “Yes.”

This is one of many examples of Erin 

Hughes pleading the fifth while on the 

stand, and withholding her eyewitness 

testimony since Erin had been threatened 

by Marchi to be charged with crimes if she 

spoke too honestly or freely about what she 

witnessed.



More Examples of 
Erin Pleading the 
Fifth; Jurors Never 
Heard from her

Erin: “I refuse to answer on my Fifth 

Amendment”

Erin: “I refuse to testify on my Fifth 

Amendment privilege.”

Erin: “I refuse…”

Erin: “I refuse to testify on my Fifth 

Amendment privilege.”

Clerks Transcripts Pages 533, 535



Jurors Never 
Heard Erin’s 
Eyewitness 
Testimony
Marchi: “Your Honor, at this point I would move 
that this witness’s testimony be excluded. She 
is asserting the Fifth Amendment right on some 
very critical areas…and if she’s going to assert 
the privilege in this area, I submit that she’s not 
available under 940 of the Evidence Code and 
she could actually be liable for certain crimes 
perhaps 10851 or 496, also for lying to a police 
officer, you know, if she came in later and 
there’s another story she told and other things. 
I don’t know how much the Court wants to hear 
of this.”

The Court: “The witness has made it very clear 
through counsel that she intends to assert the 
Fifth Amendment privilege as to anything which 
happened, may have happened, may not have 
happened after they got in the car and headed 
towards the juvenile hall. That points seems to 
be rather clear.”



Erin Confirmed That Shawn 
Was Not There When Anna 
Entrapped Nick But Jurors 
Never Heard This

Jesse: “Where were you and Shawn?

Erin: Outside the door, heading outside the door. She [Anna] 

told us to go away.

Jesse: She told you to go away?

Erin: Yeah.

Jesse: How did you know at some point Anna did lock Nick in 

the cell?

Erin: Two minutes, three minutes before we got to the door, at 

the door, at the other side of the room, we heard a bang and 

the door slammed.

Jesse: And at that point you ran back into the room where you 

heard the door slam?

Erin: Yes”

(NOTE: Erin’s statements were NOT made in front of the jury.)



Shawn Made Guilty 
for What Anna Did
…DESPITE THE FACT THAT HE ACTIVELY UNDERMINED HER 

KIDNAPPING AND HER CONSPIRACY TO MURDER, DOING ALL HE 

COULD TO PROTECT AND RESCUE NICK HAMMAN FROM ANNA RUGG



Shawn Was Made 
Culpable for Anna’s 
Intent and Actions 
(which is now illegal)

Line 2 – 6: “One who aids and abets another in 
the commission of a crime or crimes is not only 
guilty of those crimes, but is also guilty of any 
other crime committed by a principal which is a 
natural and probable consequence of the crimes 
originally aided and abetted.”Line 24: “Probable 
means likely to happen. You are not required to 
unanimously agree as to which originally 
contemplated crime the defendant aided and 
abetted so long as you are satisfied beyond a 
reasonable doubt and unanimously agree that 
the defendant aided and abetted the 
commission of an identified and defined…” 
(Reporter’s Transcript, page 663)

Reporters Transcript, Page 664: “…target crime, 
and that the remaining crimes were a natural 
and probable consequence of the commission of 
that target crime.”

Also see Reporter’s Transcript, Page 690



JURY 
INSTRUCTIONS
THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED TO FIND SHAWN GUILT Y FOR ANNA’S 

INTENTIONS AND ACTIONS.  THESE LAWS ARE NO LONGER VALID IN THE 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA.  THEREFORE, SHAWN MUST BE RESENTENCED.



Jury Instructions Required Jurors to 
Use the Now Illegal Natural & 
Probable Consequences Doctrine

Clerk’s Transcript, Page 255: CALJIC 300 – “Each principal, regardless of 
the extent or manner of participation is equally guilty.”

Clerk’s Transcript Page 257: “One who aids and abets another in the 
commission of a crime or crimes is not only guilty of those crimes, but is 
also guilty of ANY OTHER CRIME committed by a principal which is a 
NATURAL AND PROBABLE CONSEQUENCE of the crimes originally aided 
and abetted.”

Clerk’s Transcripts page 280: “A member of a conspiracy is not only 
guilty of the particular crime that to his knowledge his confederates 
agreed to and did commit, but is also liable for the natural and probable 
consequences of any crime or act of a co-conspirator to further the 
object of the conspiracy, even though that crime or act was not intended 
as part of the agreed upon objective and even though he was not 
present  at the time of the commission of that crime or act. 



Jury Instructions 
(Continued)

Reporters Transcript page 663, lines 2 – 6: “One who aids and abets 
another in the commission of a crime or crimes is not only guilty of those 
crimes, but is also guilty of any other crimes committed by a principal in 
which a natural and probable consequence of the crimes originally aided 
and abetted.”

Lines 24 – 28: “Probable means likely to happen. You are not required to 
unanimously agree as to which originally contemplated crime the 
defendant aided and abetted so long as you are satisfied beyond a 
reasonable doubt and unanimously agree that the defendant aided and 
abetted the commission of an identified and defined (RT 664, Lines 1 –
2)  “…target crime, and that the remaining crimes were a natural and 
probable consequence of the commission of that target crime.”

Reporters Transcript Page 690, lines 16 – 28: “Each principal, 
regardless of the extent or manner of participation, is equally guilty.”



What Do These Jury Instructions Make Clear?

The Jury was told to give Shawn culpability for Anna’s crimes of 
Kidnapping and Conspiracy to Commit Murder, even if he himself was not 
the doer of those crimes.  This practice was based on the now illegal 
Natural and Probable Consequences Doctrine. 

In other words, because Shawn agreed to and participated in a robbery, 
jurors were told to find Shawn guilty of Anna’s crimes of kidnapping and 
conspiracy to commit murder.

This doctrine is no longer a valid legal mechanism in the state of 
California and if Shawn were tried today, he could not have been 
convicted of kidnapping or conspiracy to commit murder. Those were 
crimes Anna did, which Shawn did not meet the criteria for. 

Just because Shawn agreed to participate in a robbery does not make 
him liable for Anna’s crimes of kidnapping or conspiracy to commit 
murder—based on current law.

Shawn deserves prison time for crimes he himself committed, not the 
crimes of someone else.  



Relevant Law 
Changes
IN  RECENT  YEARS,  LAWS HAVE  PASSED IN  CAL IFORNIA  WHICH MAKE SHAWN EL IG IBLE  
FOR RESENTENCING.  THE  NATURAL AND PROBABLE  CONSEQUENCES DOCTRINE —THE 
MECHANISM WHICH ALLOWED SHAWN TO  RECEIVE  A  GUILT Y  VERDICT  ON K ID NAPPING 
AND CONSPIRACY TO  COMMIT  MURDER — IS  NOW LEG ALLY  INVAL ID



Senate Bill 
1437

Senate Bill No. 1437 eliminated the natural and probable 

consequences liability for murder and murder-related 

crimes, and limited the scope of the felony murder rule. 

The felony murder rule is a rule that allows a defendant to 

be charged with first-degree murder for a killing that occurs 

during a dangerous felony, even if the defendant is not the 

killer.

The rule of felony murder is a legal doctrine in some 

common law jurisdictions that broadens the crime 

of murder: when someone is killed (regardless of intent to 

kill) in the commission of a dangerous or enumerated crime 

(called a felony in some jurisdictions), the offender, and also 

the offender's accomplices or co-conspirators, may be found 

guilty of murder.

In this case, there was no actual murder, however these 

doctrines were used to prosecute Shawn anyway.  

The Natural and Probable 

Consequences Doctrine which is 

the entire reason Shawn was 

found guilty of Anna’s kidnapping 

and Anna’s intent/conspiracy to 

murder is no longer valid and 

enforceable; it is now illegal.  The 

Felony Murder Rule is also 

modified.



Senate Bill 775

Existing law authorizes a person who has been convicted of felony murder or murder under the natural and probable consequences theory to file a petition 
for the court to vacate the person’s sentence and resentence them when specified conditions apply, including that the complaint, information, or indictment 
was filed against the petitioner that allowed the prosecution to proceed under a theory of felony murder or murder under the natural and probable 
consequences doctrine.

This bill would expand the authorization to allow a person who was convicted of murder under any theory under which malice is imputed to a person based 
solely on that person’s participation in a crime, attempted murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, or who was convicted of 
manslaughter when the prosecution was allowed to proceed on a theory of felony murder or murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine, 
to apply to have their sentence vacated and be resentenced if, among other things, the complaint, information, or indictment was filed to allow the 
prosecution to proceed under a theory of felony murder, murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine or other theory under which malice 
is imputed to a person based solely on that person’s participation in a crime, or attempted murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine.

This bill would require a court to hold a prima facie hearing to determine whether the petitioner has made a prima facie case for relief. The bill would 
require the court to appoint counsel, upon the petitioner’s request, when receiving a petition in which the required information is set forth or readily 
ascertainable by the court. The bill would require a court that declines to make an order to show cause to provide a statement fully setting forth its reasons 
for doing so.  Existing law requires the court to hold a hearing to determine if the petitioner is entitled to relief under these provisions.

This bill would specify that a finding that there is substantial evidence to support a conviction for murder, attempted murder, or manslaughter is insufficient 
to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the petitioner is ineligible for resentencing.

This bill would authorize a person convicted of murder, attempted murder, or manslaughter whose conviction is not final to challenge the validity of that 
conviction upon direct appeal.



But Senate Bills 1437 and 775 Do Not 
Include the Word “Conspiracy”

The heart of these law changes is clear: each person should be held responsible for their own intentions and actions, not the intentions and actions of 
another person. 

Intentionalism is a theory of statutory interpretation that holds that the laws of statutes are determined by the enacting legislators’ subjective law-making 
intentions. An intentionalist finds law by reconstructing congressional intent, also frequently relying on legislative history. Intentionalism differs from 
purposivism because a statute can be interpreted to have a broader purpose beyond the one intended2. The theory of intentionalism is sometimes called 
original understanding, originalism, or intentionalism.

Previously, Placer County denied granting relief to Shawn using SB 1437 and 775, because the laws do not use the word “conspiracy to commit murder.”  What 
this means is if someone was involved in a crime, where there was actual murder, attempted murder, or manslaughter, their sentences can be reduced or 
eliminated. But the more minor crime of “conspiracy” to commit murder will be more harshly punished and cannot be resentenced. How does this make any 
sense? Clearly, the heart of these law changes is that all murder-related crimes should be included in their application, and to deny that is to deny the intention 
of these laws.

If the Natural & Probable Consequences Doctrine can be used to PROSECUTE Shawn for 
“conspiracy” to commit murder, then changes to the Natural & Probable Consequences Doctrine 
should be used to PROVIDE RELIEF to Shawn.

If a doctrine can be used for prosecution, then modifications to the doctrine can be used to provide 
relief.

https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=294df48650febbcaJmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY4OQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubW9uYXNoLmVkdS9fX2RhdGEvYXNzZXRzL3BkZl9maWxlLzAwMDgvMTA5MjY4MC8wN19CbGFrZXIucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=294df48650febbcaJmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY4OQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubW9uYXNoLmVkdS9fX2RhdGEvYXNzZXRzL3BkZl9maWxlLzAwMDgvMTA5MjY4MC8wN19CbGFrZXIucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=395887f597be6436JmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY5MQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cDovL2lsai5sYXcuaW5kaWFuYS5lZHUvYXJ0aWNsZXMvNzIvNzJfNF9Db2xpbnZhdXgucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=3d015f4378f61e97JmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY5Mw&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cDovL2lsai5sYXcuaW5kaWFuYS5lZHUvYXJ0aWNsZXMvNzIvNzJfNF9Db2xpbnZhdXgucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=3d015f4378f61e97JmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY5Mw&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cDovL2lsai5sYXcuaW5kaWFuYS5lZHUvYXJ0aWNsZXMvNzIvNzJfNF9Db2xpbnZhdXgucGRm&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=4278a585fee779e9JmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY5NQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly9sZWdhbC1kaWN0aW9uYXJ5LnRoZWZyZWVkaWN0aW9uYXJ5LmNvbS9pbnRlbnRpb25hbGlzbQ&ntb=1
https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=4278a585fee779e9JmltdHM9MTcwMjI1MjgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yY2Q1YWRlMS1mMDA4LTZmMDUtMzM5YS1hMjFjZjFmNTZlNzEmaW5zaWQ9NTY5NQ&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=2cd5ade1-f008-6f05-339a-a21cf1f56e71&psq=what+is+legal+intentionalism&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly9sZWdhbC1kaWN0aW9uYXJ5LnRoZWZyZWVkaWN0aW9uYXJ5LmNvbS9pbnRlbnRpb25hbGlzbQ&ntb=1


People v. Chiu

After a jury trial, Defendant was found guilty of first degree willful, deliberate and 
premeditated murder on the theory that the Defendant either directly aided and abetted the 
murder or that Defendant aided and abetted the target offense of assault or disturbing the 
peace, the natural consequence of which was murder. The court of appeal reversed 
Defendant’s first degree murder conviction, holding that the trial court erred in failing to 
instruct the jury that it must find first degree premeditated murder, rather than first degree 
murder, was the natural and probable consequence of either target offense and that the 
error was not harmless. The Supreme Court affirmed the court of appeal but on different 
grounds, holding (1) an aider and abetter may not be convicted of first degree premeditated 
murder under the natural and probable consequences doctrine; rather, his liability for that 
crime must be based on direct aiding and abetting principles; and (2) because the jury in 
this case may have based its verdict of first degree premeditated murder on the 
natural and probable consequences theory, the first degree murder conviction must be 
reversed.



People v. Rivera

Rivera pleaded no contest to second-degree murder and admitted a prior strike in exchange for the dismissal of special-
circumstances allegations. In 2017, he was sentenced to 35 years to life in prison. Penal Code sections 188 and 189 subsequently 
limited liability for murder under the doctrines of felony murder and natural and probable consequences, and established 
a procedure, Penal Code 1170.95, for eligible defendants to petition to have their murder convictions vacated and be 
resentenced. The trial court denied Rivera’s petition for section 1170.95 relief, finding that Rivera failed to make a prima facie 
showing of eligibility because he “entered a plea to second-degree murder with malice” and nothing in the record of conviction 
supported the conclusion that the murder was “anything other than an intentional killing in which [he] harbored such malice.”

The court of appeal reversed. A defendant who entered a plea to murder “with malice aforethought” is not categorically incapable
of making a prima facie showing under section 1170.95(c). Such a plea is not necessarily an admission that the crime was 
committed with actual malice. A defendant who stipulated to a grand jury transcript as the factual basis of the plea may 
make a prima facie showing of eligibility for relief by identifying a scenario under which he was guilty of murder only 
under a now-invalid theory, even if the record of conviction does not demonstrate that the indictment rested on that 
scenario.

Shawn was convicted using the Natural and Probable Consequences 
Theory which is now invalid, and therefore Shawn is qualified to be 
resentenced.



Shawn SHOULD Be Eligible for 
Resentencing Even for “Conspiracy” to 
Commit Murder

If Nick Hamman had actually been murdered by Anna, Shawn would be entitled to a resentencing according to Senate 
Bills 1437 and 775.

Does it make sense that those who are eligible for resentencing under Senate Bills 1437 and 775 where MORE heinous 
crimes took place (murder, attempted murder, or manslaughter) can be resentenced, but the lesser crime of “conspiracy” 
is not included?

It makes no sense that more serious crimes allow for resentencing but the lesser crime of “conspiracy” does not. 

The Bottom Line: 

Was the Natural & Probable Consequences Doctrine used to convict Shawn for a kidnapping he had nothing to do with 
and a “conspiracy to commit murder” he had no intent for?  The answer is clearly YES.  The trial transcripts validate this.

Is the Natural & Probable Consequences Doctrine now invalid and illegal?  The answer is YES.  Therefore, based on current 
law, he is eligible to be exonerated from those crimes and have his sentences vacated.



Assembly Bills 2942 and 1812/ 
Penal Code 1170(d)

The new law took effect in 2018. Penal Code § 1170(d)(1) 

was always on the books, and always authorized the 

California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and 

the Board of Parole Hearings to (at any time, and for any 

reason) recommend ANY inmate be resentenced. 

The change to the law expanded that authority to include the 

District Attorney's offices also, and to signal to both agencies 

that the should USE this authority, which until 2018, CDCR 

had seldom used. 

The CDCR’s current regulations about §1170(d) sentence 

recall recommendations are in the California Code of 

Regulations, Title 15, §§3076-3076.2 (these have not been 

modified since AB 1812 took effect).



Assembly Bill 600
Signed into law by Governor Gavin Newsom on October 8, 2023, AB 600 stands as a transformative piece of legislation. In essence, this law grants 
judges the authority to initiate resentencing if the original sentence no longer aligns with current legislation. This could pertain to areas 
such as enhancements, sentencing rules, strike laws, and other aspects related to sentencing.

Changes in laws are not uncommon. Laws that seemed justifiable five, ten, or even thirty years ago might now be considered outdated or unjust. 
As such, AB 600 acts as a remedy, allowing for sentences to be revisited and rectified in light of modern legislation.

1. Initiating Resentencing: While previously a resentencing required initiation from the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 
(CDCR) or agreement from the prosecutor, AB 600 places this power in the hands of judges. This resentencing can be initiated by the 
original judge, the current judge, or any judge with jurisdiction over the case.

2. Considering Post-Conviction Factors: The court is now mandated to review post-conviction elements and assess if the defendant’s rights were 
potentially violated during the initial conviction or sentencing.

3. Presumption Favoring Recall of Sentence: One of the pivotal aspects of AB 600 is its presumption in favor of resentencing. This comes 
into play unless the defendant poses an “unreasonable risk of danger to public safety.”

However, it is worth noting that despite this newfound judicial power, the law does not allow inmates or their attorneys to directly initiate the 
process. Judges must take the first step.



Juror Statements
FIVE OF THE TWELVE JURORS FILLED OUT A QUESTIONNAIRE AFTER 

THE TRIAL;  THEIR COMMENTS ARE PROVIDED HEREIN FOR REVIEW



Juror Statement #1
Did you conclude that the defendant had the specific intent to 
murder Nicholas Hamman?” “No”

Did the jury discuss the False Imprisonment charges before 
debating the kidnap?  “The majority of the jury was leaning towards 
false imprisonment..”

Do you have any regrets regarding your decision in this case? “Yes, 

punishment is too severe.”

Based on the evidence you have heard in this case, do you feel that 
life imprisonment is a fair punishment for Shawn Rodriguez? 
Please explain.  “No, I was shocked when I heard how severe the 
punishment could be. Even though jury instructions stated that we 
could not reference the punishment to our decision making. It is of 

my opinion that the punishment does not fit the crime. 
NOBODY WAS HURT. Where is the justice? I feel 

Shawn was a victim of circumstance and made some poor choices. 

When he had the opportunity to correct the situation. It is of my 
opinion that Shawn should spend no more than a 
year of confinement.

There were 2 jurors on our jury whom I felt would not listen to 
reason, that wanted guilty verdicts on everything, without further 
discussion. Most of the other jury members were going to vote for 
false imprisonment, the lesser charge. 

I personally thought Mr. Rodriguez was guilty of 
false imprisonment, robbery, and auto theft only, 
and innocent on all other charges.”

Clerk’s Transcripts Pages 371 – 372B



Juror #2 Statements
“I concluded it was not Shawn Rodriguez’s intent to 
kill Hamman.”

“We all agreed that Shawn took an active part in 
extorting, robbing, and falsely imprisoning Nick 

Hamman…we saw no proof that Shawn had 
anything to do with actually getting him in the 
cell. There was no violence or menace on 
Shawn’s part as far as we could see…I regret 
my decision on Count Two. I should have listened 
to what my gut was telling me and insisted that we 
explore that charge further. Perhaps I was unclear in 
regards to the definition, and should have re-read 
them one more time. Upon further reflection…and 
believe me, there has been a lot of further reflection, I 
no longer believe that Shawn had malice 
aforethought, namely the intent to kill when he 
entered into the agreement with Anna Rugg.  It is not 
because I now know that this charge carries a life 
sentence that I feel this way. It is because now I 
realize that maybe I did not have as clear an 
understanding as I thought I did when…the 
instructions and the definitions regarding this charge. 
I am not as certain of my understanding of 
instructions on Count 2 as I thought I was. I don’t 
think I fully understood that Shawn himself had to 
possess the intent to kill when the conspiracy took 
place. As I stated before, I thought at the time that 
Shawn did have this intent, but at the same time I had 
doubts of that fact, if that makes sense to you.



Juror #2 Statements 
(Continued)

“Upon further reflection, I do not believe Shawn ever 
wanted Nick dead, much less kill him himself.

At no time during the trial or during the deliberations 
did I feel that Shawn was deserving of life in prison…I 
believe justice could have been served and punishment 
been metered out without the kid spending the rest of 
his life in jail.  

I don’t understand why the district attorney brought these 
particular charges to the table when I know that other 
charges could have been brought that would have 
accomplished the same goal.  Why did the charge of 
kidnapping for extortion have to be brought? Why did the 
words “violence and menace” have to be…on the false 
imprisonment charge? 

I just don’t feel that this “go for the throat” 
attitude on the part of the district attorney was 
appropriate in this case.  I do not believe that 
Shawn Rodriguez is a cold-blooded killer, and I do 
not believe he is deserving of this punishment, 
one that is usually given to those who are.”

Clerk’s Transcripts pages 374 - 376



Juror #3 Statements

“The full charge was false imprisonment 

with violence. Since we felt that Shawn 

was not present at the time Anna lured 

Nicholas into the holding cell, this would 

mean that he did not falsely imprison him 

with violence. There was no violence 

evident. So we had to defer to 

kidnapping.”

“The majority of the group believed Shawn 

that he knew “15 minutes would not kill 

the guy” and did it only to appease Anna.”

“Jury instructions can be very 

complicated. There were definitely times 

when I wished we could have had a lawyer 

there to interpret the laws.

It was my conclusion that Shawn did not 

want to kill Nicholas.



Juror #3 (Continued)
Based on the evidence you have heard in this case, do 
you feel like life imprisonment is a fair punishment for 
Shawn Rodriguez?

Absolutely not! Did Shawn commit some bad stuff? Yes! 
Is he guilty of falsely imprisoning and detaining Nicholas, 
taking his PIN, money, and car, and taking money out of 
ATM. He was guilty of going along with Anna and even 
making it seem like he was going to kill Nicholas. He 
definitely made some very bad choices and needs to take 
responsibility for them. However, I do not feel that life in 
prison is fair at all. What this young man needs is not life 
in prison with hardened criminals, but rather a 
punishment that would include some time in prison along 
with counseling and help this young man learn about 
choices and consequences, respect and responsibility. 
Shawn seems to be a basically good kid. He needs help, 
not to be thrown away. I have to be honest that when I 
learned that these charges brought a “life sentence,” I 
felt tricked into the decisions by the prosecution.”

“Personally, I believe the jury should be able to have a say 
in the sentence term…It is my intent for the court to 
reconsider the sentence for this young man. I beg the 
court to consider a punishment for Shawn that will help 
him to come out of his prison term a new, different, and 
better person. Please do not throw this young life away.”

Clerk’s Transcripts 377 – 378B



Juror #4 Statements

Did the jury seem to discuss and 

understand that the law requires the 

same specific intent to kill for conspiracy 

as it does for attempted murder?

“There seemed to be confusion among 

some of them regarding this. I remember 

the argument was that some felt these 

were two separate charges and should be 

regarded as so.”

Based on the evidence you have heard in 

this case, do you feel that life 

imprisonment is a fair punishment for 

Shawn Rodriguez? 

“No, I do not feel it is a fair punishment.”



Juror #5 Statements

Did you conclude that the defendant had the specific 
intent to murder Nicholas Hamman?  “No.”

Did the jury seem to discuss and understand that the 
law requires the same specific intent to kill for 
conspiracy as it does for attempted murder?  “We 
discussed it but obviously did not understand that the 
law requires.”

Did you have any regrets regarding your decision in this 
case?  “That we did not have an understanding the law 
requires the same specific intent to kill as it does for 
conspiracy.”

Is it your conclusion after having all the evidence that 
Shawn Rodriguez wanted to kill Nicholas Hamman?  
“No, I did not believe Shawn wanted to kill N. Hamman.”

Based on the evidence you have heard in this case, do 
you feel that life imprisonment is a fair punishment for 
Shawn Rodriguez? 

“It seems very harsh given that I do not believe he 
intended to kill him. I do believe Shawn did not want to 
open the cell door for fear of N. Hamman. Shawn 
obtained a hacksaw to turn the water off. We’ll never 
know if he would have called the police to report. I 
believe he would have. I don’t believe Shawn was part 
of a plan to entrap the victim that weekend.”



Analysis of 
the Jury



Jury 
Feedback 

One juror wrote in their post-trial 

statement, “I felt tricked into the 

decisions by the prosecution.”

Another juror wrote in their post-

trial statement, “I just don’t feel 

that this “go for the throat” 

attitude on the part of the district 

attorney was appropriate in this 

case.”

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-ND

https://www.higheredjobs.com/Articles/articleDisplay.cfm?ID=1200
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/3.0/


Jurors Did Not 
Believe Shawn 
Deserved the 
Kidnapping 
Charge

“I personally thought 
Mr. Rodriguez was 

guilty of false 
imprisonment, robbery, 

and auto theft only, 
and innocent on all 

other charges.”

“We saw no 
proof that 

Shawn had 
anything to do 
with actually 
getting him in 

the cell.”

“I don’t understand why the 
district attorney brought these 
particular charges to the table 

when I know that other 
charges could have been 
brought that would have 

accomplished the same goal.  
Why did the charge of 

kidnapping for extortion have 
to be brought? Why did the 

words “violence and menace” 
have to be on the false 
imprisonment charge?”

“I don’t believe 
Shawn was part 

of a plan to 
entrap the victim 
that weekend.”

Shawn did not know Anna would 

entrap Nick and was not physically 

present when it happened.  Erin’s 

interview confirmed this.

Jurors knew Shawn did not 

participate in a kidnapping. Yet, 

Shawn still received a 7 to life 

sentence for Anna’s kidnapping, 

due to the Natural & Probable 

Consequences Doctrine.



Jurors Confess 
to Being 
Confused

“Now I realize that maybe I did not have as clear an understanding as I thought I did when…the 
instructions and the definitions regarding this charge. I am not as certain of my understanding 
of instructions on Count 2 as I thought I was. I don’t think I fully understood that Shawn himself 
had to possess the intent to kill when the conspiracy took place.

“Jury instructions can be very complicated. There were definitely times when I wished we could 
have had a lawyer there to interpret the laws.”

“I felt tricked into the decisions by the prosecution.”

Did the jury seem to discuss and understand that the law requires the same specific intent to 
kill for conspiracy as it does for attempted murder? 

“There seemed to be confusion among some of them regarding this.”

Did the jury seem to discuss and understand that the law requires the same specific intent to 
kill for conspiracy as it does for attempted murder?  

“We discussed it but obviously did not understand that the law requires.”

Did you have any regrets regarding your decision in this case? 

“That we did not have an understanding the law requires the same specific intent to kill as it 
does for conspiracy.”

Did the jury seem to discuss and understand that the law requires the same specific intent to 
kill for conspiracy as it does for attempted murder?

“No, I don’t believe so.”

Many jurors admit to being  very 

confused and regretful for how the 

trial turned out.



What did the 
jurors think?

“Did you 
conclude that the 
defendant had 
the specific 
intent to murder 
Nicholas 
Hamman?”

“No”

“I concluded it was 
not Shawn 

Rodrigeuz’s intent to 
kill Hamman.”

“It was my 
conclusion that 

Shawn did not want 
to kill Nicholas.”

“No”

When asked in their post-trial 

surveys very explicitly if they 

believed Shawn had intent to 

kill, not a single juror answered 

“yes” or in the affirmative.

Some of their responses are 

included on this slide.

Note: To legally find someone 

guilty of “conspiracy to commit 

murder,” a requirement for that 

finding is intent to kill. Given 

Shawn had no intent to kill and 

all the jurors knew that, he 

himself does not meet the 

criteria to be found guilty of that 

charge.  

The only reason he was made 

to be guilty was by transferring 

Anna’s intent to Shawn through 

use of the Natural and Probable 

Consequences Doctrine—a now 

illegal practice.



A Recent 
Message from 
Juror Louise 
Daggett

“It grieves our hearts today as it did 20 years ago when Shawn was 

given an unjust life sentence. 

As one of the 12 jurors, we were all shocked and very disappointed

that the instructions we were given by the court on how we had to 

make our verdict would have such a horrible, tragic, unjust

consequence for Shawn.  

We could not imagine such an unfair justice. 

I’m sure all the other jurors feel the same way.  In light of Nick’s 

perjury confession, my sincere hope and prayer is that this terrible 

unjust wrong to Shawn will finally have some mercy towards his 

new, free life which he more than deserves in my strong opinion.

I gave my deposition [statement to a private investigator]. I hope it 

matters as well as the depositions of all the other jurors who I’m 

sure feel the same way.”

Louise may be reached at (916) 390-9634.

November 13, 2022



More About Shawn’s 
Achievements Since 
2003
THERE ARE A LOT! HERE ARE SOME OF THEM. 



Shawn’s 
Achievements 
While 
Incarcerated

The next series of slides are provided to 

highlight Shawn’s commitment to 

personal development, learning, and 

giving back while he has been 

incarcerated.

Please note: Not all of his achievements, 

laudatory chronos, and certificates are 

included herein because there are a lot 

of them; but the following slides will give 

you a sense of his commitment to self-

improvement by providing just a sample 

of his achievements while incarcerated.



Shawn’s Accomplishments

National Center for Construction 

Education & Research (NCCER) Core 

Curriculum Certificate and the NCCER 

Electronics Systems Technician Level 1 

Certification (which gives Shawn the 

necessary education to obtain a job as an 

electrician)

Certified in Word and Excel

Lead Cook 2013-2014

Law Library Clerk 2014

Building Porter 2014 – 2015

Barber 2015

Yard/Facilities Maintenance 2015 –

2016

Building Clerk 2016 – 2017

Lead Law Library Clerk 2019

Recreation Clerk 2019 – 2020

Yard/Facilities Maintenance 2020 –

2021

Healthcare Facilities Maintenance 

Custodian 2021



More of Shawn’s Accomplishments

Building Porter 2022

Dialectical Behavior Therapy Certified 
2017

Alternatives to Violence Project 2018

The B.R.A.I.N. Project 2020

PACE Learning Systems Lifeskills 2021

R.I.S.E. (Rehabilitate, Implement, Succeed, 
Excel) by the Life Support Alliance 2021

American Community Correctional Institute 
Certifications in: Anger Management, 
Contentious Relationships, Substance 
Abuse, Domestic Violence, Bad Credit, 
Shoplifting, Drunk Driving

The Change Companies Certifications in 
Anger Management, Self-Esteem, Victims 
Impact

Criminals and Gang Members Anonymous 
2023

Proudly drug-free his entire prison term

Proudly gang-free his entire prison term

Read over 1,000 books while incarcerated



Letters From CDCR 
Employees About 
Shawn
“LAUDATORY CHRONOS” FROM CORRECTIONS STAFF ON WHAT 

THEY OBSERVED ABOUT SHAWN



“I also have…noticed personal 
growth in Rodriguez”

“I have supervised inmate RODRIGUEZ 

(V16387 FAB-230L) for over seven years. In 

that time I have observed him to be a hard 

worker with a tireless work ethic; a self-

starter who is organized, efficient, analytical 

and who completes all tasks asked of him 

promptly and satisfactorily…I also have in 

this time noticed personal growth in 

RODRIGEUZ, who has become calmer and 

more patient, a sign of increasing maturity, 

and he appears to have more empathy now 

than when we met in 2013. He is a team 

player I have come to rely on when he is 

needed. Inmate RODRIGUEZ is 

capable of being a great asset to any 

environment he is in.”



“Rodriguez is a hard 
worker and 
respectful at all 
times.”
“I have observed inmate RODRIGUEZ for 

several years.  In that time I have observed his 

conduct and work ethic. He is punctual and a 

self-starter, with follow through and 

commitment. He has a tireless work ethic. 

This past winter on a voluntary basis before he 

was assigned to the yard crew, he and another 

inmate replaced almost all of the grass on A-

Facility. This included first turning over the soil 

with shovels and then with a rototiller, clearing 

the soil of debris and then reseeding the 

areas with new seed and watering it by hand. 

He also cut new drainage ditches and 

replanted where needed. Through it all he 

mowed and maintained the lawn as well as 

the sprinkler systems and maintaining the 

equipment and replacing sprinklers broken 

blades on the mowers. Inmate RODRIGUEZ is 

a hard worker and respectful at all times.” 



“He is still one of the 
hardest workers I 
have ever known.”

“I have known Shawn Rodriguez #V16387 for almost 
eight years. In that time I have seen a very 
substantial change in him. When Shawn came to 
work in my dining hall in 2013, he was what we 
needed; our dining hall was hard to run and he took 
charge quickly. He is still one of the hardest workers 
I have ever known, he was timely, efficient and a 
self-starter. He quickly found issues and resolved 
them, often in common-sense ways that were 
creative and effective. Before he left to pursue a 
Clerk Position and avoid personal conflict brewing 
with another dining hall worker, he set routines and 
taught other workers habits that made our dining 
hall the most clean and efficient in the prison. In the 
last several years, I have noticed notable growth in 
Shawn; he is calmer and a better communicator, 
and I have at times referred other prisoners to him 
for advice and guidance when it seemed 
appropriate and productive to do so. I have come to 
respect his judgment as much as his work ethic. I 
would hire him again on the spot if the rules allowed 
him to work in the dining hall anymore.”



“These skills and personality 
characteristics should serve 
him well…upon his release 
from prison.”

“I have known Inmate Rodriguez V16387 for several 
years. I know Rodriguez to be courteous, respectful, and 
a problem solver socially. Before Shawn was assigned to 
the Yard Crew, he did hard work on a volunteer basis for 
several months. After being assigned he further proved 
himself to be a harder than average worker, who is very 
punctual, follows instructions well, and who is a very 
creative problem solver when necessary to complete the 
tasks asked of him. He has stood out as someone who 
is always willing to help when he sees a need, and a 
very capable multi-tasker who works towards his goals 
thoughtfully, methodically and with foresight. 
Importantly, I have consistently observed him resolve 
social conflict, personal and sometimes otherwise, 
appropriately and in the least damaging way that 
seemed practical. Increasing his value on the job, he 
has frequently proven capable of solving various 
mechanical or similar issues inherent in the function of 
the day-to-day operations of the Yard Crew/Grounds 
Maintenance worksite (i.e., Sprinklers, Landscaping 
equipment, or other more complicated equipment). 
These skills and personality characteristics should serve 
him well after his transition away from the Yard Crew to 
pursue an additional Vocation, and also upon his 
release from prison.”



Librarian Praises 
Shawn for Being 
an Avid Reader

Inmate RODRIGUEZ, S., CDC#V16387 has 
participated in the C Yard Non-Fiction 
Reading Challenge at California State 
Prison, Sacramento. The goal of the non-
fiction reading challenge is to support, 
encourage literacy, and promote interest 
in the non-fiction collection. The challenge 
was held during June 25, 2018 until 
September 28, 2018. RODRIGUEZ 
completed the Regular Reader challenge 
by reading and writing book reviews on 
the 9 non-fiction titles listed on the Bingo 
card sheet (e.g. Dewey Decimal numbers 
from 100 – 900). Therefore, RODRIGUEZ 
is commended for his achievement and 
encouraged to continue on a journey of 
lifelong reading.



Laudatory Chrono 
from Associate 
Warden Business 
Services

“Inmate RODRIGUEZ, Shawn (CDCR #V16387), is being 
recognized for his assistance in coordinating the Day for 
the Atonement at California Men’s Colony. The Day for 
Atonement was coordinated in order to benefit those who 
have been affected by violent crime personally and in their 
communities. Residents were given an opportunity to make 
amends by donating funds from their trust accounts to 
Restorative Partners, a non-profit organization that 
services the community by helping with crime victims, 
housing, clothing and more. Residents took the opportunity 
to donate in the names of the human beings they have 
hurt, broken, violated, and damaged. The population joined 
in a memorial ceremony and a walk for peace in an effort 
to stand with the rest of society in promoting awareness, 
healing and harmony. As one of the coordinators 
RODRIGUEZ voluntarily assisted in making the Day-of-
Atonement at California Men’s Colony a success. This 
required a great deal of time and work by RODRIGUEZ, 
which was completed on his personal time. By taking this 
time to coordinate in this event RODRIGEUZ demonstrated 
his empathy for others and a willingness to make amends 
for those his commitment offense impacted. RODRIGUEZ is 
commended for his selfless act and willingness to think of 
others who have been impacted by crime.”



“Demonstrating 
empathy…”
“I have observed inmate RODRIGUEZ, Shawn 

V16387, Cell 6220 active participate in Criminal & 

Gang Members Anonymous (CGA) during the period 

covering October 1, 2022 through March 14, 2023. 

RODRIGUEZ is to be commended for demonstrating 

empathy and a willingness to attend this group.

CGA focuses on resolving serious social issues and 

maladaptive behaviors and beliefs, such as gangs 

and criminality. It involves deep introspection into 

one’s behaviors and beliefs and utilizing the 12 

steps for CGA and open and honest 

communication, addresses the root issues 

underlying past criminal behavior and gang 

involvement. RODRIGUEZ’s participation in CGA 

fosters a safer and more secure environment here 

at California Men’s Colony (CMC) and provides him 

with the tools needed to succeed upon reentry into 

society and to become a positive and productive 

member of his immediate community. CGA’s motto 

is “One Less Criminal, One Less Crime, One Less 

Victim.”



Laudatory Chrono 
from Recreation 
Therapist

“We acknowledge and appreciate the financial 

contribution of Inmate Rodriguez, Shawn 

(V16387, Cell #6220). Your donation was 

used to provide prizes for the Recreation Aide 

Program (RAP) held for the Activities of Daily 

Living Program (ADL) and Enhance Outpatient 

Program (EOP) participants housed on Facility 

D. RAP activities are provided on a weekly 

basis and for special holiday programming 

including Christmas and July 4th. The RAP 

program helps encourage ADL and EOP to 

decrease isolation, which helps to reduce 

symptoms of anxiety and depression. By 

providing weekly games and social 

interactions, you encourage a healthy social 

milieu. Your support adds to the success of 

this event.” 



Laudatory 
Chrono from 
Recreation 
Therapist
“We acknowledge and appreciate the 

donation of canteen from Inmate 

Rodriguez, Shawn (V17387, 6222). Your 

donation was used to provide prizes for 

the Activities for Daily Living Program 

(ADL) and Enhanced Out-Patient Program 

(EOP) participants housed on Facility D. 

Activities and programming are provided 

on a daily basis and for special holiday 

programming including Christmas and 

July 4th. Your donation assists in the 

program for ADL and the EOP to decrease 

isolation which helps to reduce 

symptoms of anxiety and depression. 

Your support adds to the success of this 

program.”



Certificates of 
Completion For Self-
Awareness and Self-
Development



Certificate in Anger 
Management 

Rehabilitate, Implement, 
Succeed, Excel 
Certificate of Completion

Life Skills 25 
Curriculum Certificate 
of Achievement

Anger Management 
Workbook and 
Curriculum



Basic Course in 
Nonviolent Conflict 
Resolution

Advanced Second Level 
Course in Nonviolent 
Conflict Resolution

Certificate in Offender 
Corrections

Theft/Shoplifting 
Course Certificate of 
Completion



Adult Substance Abuse 
Course Completion 
Certificate

Contentious 
Relationships Course 
Completion

Certificate in Parenting
Certificate in Adult 
Substance Abuse

The B.R.A.I.N Project 
Certificate of 
Recognition



Sample Certificates 
of Completion For 
Trade-Based Skills



Power Industry 
Fundamentals

Electronic 
Systems 
Technician Level 
One 



Sample Certificates 
of Completion For 
Office-Based Skills



Digital Literacy 
Certificate

Digital Literacy 
Certificate
C-Facility Readers

C-Facility Readers 
Certificate of 
Achievement

Certificate of 
Recognition for C-
Facility Readers



OSTR-Level 1 –
Computer 
Literacy Core

Microsoft Office 
Specialist 
Certificate for 
Word



Evidence of Shawn’s 
Psychological 
Development and 
Health



Certificate of 
Completion: 
Dialectical 
Behavior Therapy 
Informed



After years of voluntary participation in 

mental health treatment, including 

Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, Rational 

Behavior Therapy, and Dialectical 

Behavior Therapy, which are the only 

recognized methods of treatment for 

Antisocial Personality Disorder, Shawn’s 

diagnosis of ASPD the prison staff had 

previously assigned was removed.

“On May 26, 2021, your primary clinician 

removed the Antisocial Personality (ASPD) 

diagnosis.” 

– K. Franeschi, Psy.D., Chief of Mental 

Health, California State Prison Sacramento





Final Analysis of the 
Case



How Much Time is 
Enough?

The average prison term in the USA for actual murder is 

less than 18 years.  

Shawn has been in prison for more than 20 years despite 

the fact that no murder occurred, largely due to the fact 

that Shawn actively prevented any murder from 

happening. 



What is the definition of 
“wrongful conviction?”

A C O N V I C T I O N O F A  P E R S O N  F O R  A  C R I M E  T H A T  H E  O R  S H E  D I D  

N O T  C O M M I T .

S H A W N  D I D  N O T  C O M M I T  K I D N A P P I N G  N O R  D I D  H E  C O N S P I R E  T O  

A C T U A L L Y  M U R D E R .  

H E  D E S E R V E S  T O  B E  R E S E N T E N C E D  F O R  W H A T  H E  H I M S E L F  I S  

A C T U A L L Y  G U I L T Y  O F ,  A N D  E X O N E R A T E D  F O R  C R I M E S  F O R  

W H I C H  H E  I S  I N N O C E N T .



Next Steps: 
Resentence Shawn

KIDNAPPING CHARGES MUST BE REMOVED

Shawn was not there for the kidnapping, as Erin Hughes’ interview with Detective Daniel Coe will validate. Juror statements clearly 

also show they did not believe Shawn was a part of any plan to entrap Nick Hamman, they didn’t believe Shawn was physically 

present for the kidnapping, and in one juror’s words, they “felt tricked” into voting him guilty of kidnapping instead of false 

imprisonment. Placer County should have Erin’s interview file in their records.  Shawn should be exonerated of the kidnapping charge. 

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER CHARGES MUST BE REMOVED

There are four criteria to be found guilty of conspiracy to commit murder, including: (1) intent to kill, and (2) an act in furtherance of 

that goal.  All the jurors knew Shawn had on no intent to kill. Therefore, he is not guilty himself of that crime and he was found guilty

because Marchi and Kearney told the jury Shawn was guilty if Anna had intent.  

Further, Shawn did not do anything which could have actually led to Hamman’s death.  Therefore, he himself does not meet the 

criteria to be considered guilty of that crime and those charges and the associated 25 to life sentence must be removed from the

record.

The majority of Shawn’s prison time was due to Anna’s crimes.  Please resentence Shawn for what he himself did.

Exonerate Shawn for: Kidnapping and Conspiracy to Commit Murder. Resentence him with aiding and abetting a robbery, auto theft or  

“Driving or Taking a Vehicle without Consent,” which may be a more accurate charge, and maybe misdemeanor false imprisonment 

as well as one count of using another’s name to obtain credit or goods (Shawn used Nick’s ATM card to put gas in Nick’s car).



Public Support for Shawn’s 
Release from Prison

There are numerous active social media accounts 

(YouTube, FaceBook, Twitter/X, and TikTok) where this 

case is examined in great detail.  Shawn Rodriguez has 

thousands of supporters across these platforms who 

believe he deserves to be free now.

As one sample of the level of support he has, please see 

the change.org petition, which was created November 

18, 2023, and in just a few weeks has garnered over 

500 signatures. The QR code to the left may be used to 

access that petition showing tremendous public 

outpouring for Shawn’s release. 



Final Questions for You 

If Shawn were sentenced today, what would you have sentenced him 
to?  Is it less than 25 to life?  If so, please, resentence him according 
to current laws.

In addition to relevant law changes, consider the “extraordinary 
circumstances” of Nick’s recantations, and consider all the evidence 
that shows Shawn was also Anna’s victim.

Shawn is enduring an unjust, excessive sentence for what he did as a 
teenager.  

As one juror said, “Nobody was hurt.  Where is the justice?”



We Look Forward to 
Your Timely Response

❖ ACotellessa@gwmail.gwu.edu

❖ (213) 804-5151

❖ 6200 Rolling Road, #523142, Springfield, VA 22152

(Full Trial Transcripts are posted to www.helpfreeshawn.com

for ease of reference)

mailto:Acotellessa@gwmail.gwu.edu
http://www.helpfreeshawn.com/
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